Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Review

Hormones and Behavior



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/yhbeh

The amygdala: An agent of change in adolescent neural networks

K. Suzanne Scherf^{a,*}, Joshua M. Smyth^b, Mauricio R. Delgado^c

^a Dept. of Psychology, Center for Brain, Behavior & Cognition, and Social Science Research Institute, Penn State University, USA

^b Dept. of Biobehavioral Health and Social Science Research Institute, Penn State University, USA

^c Department of Psychology, Rutgers University, USA

ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Available online 10 June 2013

Keywords: Adolescence Neural networks Developmental tasks Pubertal development Brain development Amygdala Fusiform gyrus Face processing Fear learning Striatum vmPFC Stress This article is part of a Special Issue "Puberty and Adolescence".

A unique component of adolescent development is the need to master new developmental tasks in which peer interactions become primary (for the purposes of becoming autonomous from parents, forming intimate friendships, and romantic/sexual partnerships). Previously, it has been suggested that the ability to master these tasks requires an important re-organization in the relation between perceptual, motivational, affective, and cognitive systems in a very general and broad way that is fundamentally influenced by the infusion of sex hormones during pubertal development (Scherf et al., 2012). Herein, we extend this argument to suggest that the amygdala, which is vastly connected with cortical and subcortical regions and contains sex hormone receptors, may lie at the heart of this re-organization. We propose that during adolescent development there is a shift in the attribution of relevance to existing stimuli and contexts that is mediated by the amygdala (e.g., heightened relevance of peer faces, reduced relevance of physical distance from parents). As a result, amygdala inputs to existing stable neural networks are re-weighted (increased or decreased), which destabilizes the functional interactions among regions within these networks and allows for a critical restructuring of the network functional organization. This process of network re-organization enables processing of qualitatively new kinds of social information and the emergence of novel behaviors that support mastery of adolescent-specific developmental tasks.

© 2013 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

Contents

Introduction
Amygdala: structural organization and hub-like architecture
Determining relevance and significance of stimuli
Adolescence: structural changes in the amygdala
Adolescence: functional changes in the amygdala
Adolescent changes in face processing
Changes in adolescent fear learning
Adolescent changes in stress responses
Amygdala as an agent of change in adolescent neural networks
Alternative models of adolescent brain development
Conclusions: amygdala as the agent of change in cortical reorganization
Acknowledgments
References

Introduction

Adolescence is rapidly becoming known as a unique developmental period that has implications for important changes in cognitive, affective, and emotional behaviors as well as underlying neural circuitry

^{*} Corresponding author at: Dept. of Psychology, Penn State University, 111 Moore Building, University Park, PA 16802, USA. Fax: +1 814 863 7002.

⁰⁰¹⁸⁻⁵⁰⁶X/\$ – see front matter © 2013 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2013.05.011

(see Scherf et al., 2012). A central feature of adolescent development is the need to master developmental tasks that are specific to this period of development and that require the emergence of completely novel behaviors. For example, individuals transitioning through adolescence have a new interest in developing romantic and sexual partnerships with peers, in large part because of pubertal development. They also have increasing needs to form loyal friendships with peers and to become autonomous and independent from parents (Eccles et al., 1993; Steinberg and Morris, 2001). These tasks lead adolescents to enhance the primacy of peer interactions and evince a social *reorientation* toward peers (Brown, 2004; Nelson et al., 2005). This reorientation supports the emergence of social competence and high-quality friendships with peers, two developmental tasks that foreshadow the quality of adult relationships and social functioning more generally (Capaldi et al., 2001).

These aspects of adolescent development raise difficult questions about how *new behaviors emerge* from behavioral and neural systems that are becoming increasingly stable across many domains at this very same time (e.g., reasoning abilities, reaction time, immune function; see Dahl, 2004). Previously, it has been argued that the emergence of new behaviors relevant to the developmental tasks of adolescence is likely to 1) require a fundamental re-organization in the way perceptual, cognitive, affective, and motivational systems work together, 2) be reflected in changes in the functional interactions (i.e., functional connectivity) between the neural regions that support these component systems, and 3) be influenced by pubertal hormones (Scherf et al., 2012). For example, in the domain of face processing, specific developmental tasks of adolescence may induce the need to extract qualitatively new kinds of information from faces, such as the attractiveness, trustworthiness, competence, and social status of a face, particularly for peer-aged faces (see Fig. 1). This need may be instantiated neurally in the form of a concomitant functional re-organization (i.e., new patterns of functional interactions) among neural circuits that support and integrate perceptual, affective, and cognitive aspects of face processing. Scherf and colleagues also argued that gonadal hormones will likely increase motivational and affective inputs that modulate functional connectivity among existing visuoperceptual, cognitive, social and affective neural regions supporting face processing (see Fig. 1). In other words, they expect that the dynamical interactions (e.g., functional connections) between face processing regions are fundamentally altered as a result of the surge of gonadal hormones and the resulting new task demands for face processing in adolescence. This process fundamentally enables the



Fig. 1. A schematic representation of the Scherf et al. (2012) network-based model that emphasizes a restructuring of the dynamical interactions between existing neural regions to enable the emergence of new behaviors and particularly those relevant to the specific developmental tasks of adolescence. The model includes three hypotheses about the dynamic changes that are predicted to initiate the emergence of new social and affective components of face processing in adolescence (i.e., fine-tuned attractiveness ratings and an own-age bias in identity recognition). In Hypothesis 1 (dark purple lines), Scherf and colleagues predicted that the pubertal hormones that initiate the development of secondary sex characteristics and sexual dimorphisms in the structure of the face and brain are also likely to influence motivation to master new developmental tasks, such as developing confiding friendships and romantic relations by with peers. This is manifest in the brain as a modulation in the functioning of limbic circuitry (particularly the amygdala), which induces dynamic changes in the functional organization of many neural circuits that interact with the amygdala, including the face processing system. These developmental tasks will in turn, drive the *emergence of new social/affective components of face processing* (Hypothesis 2—blue lines). In other words, puberty induces adolescents to be socially and affectively motivated to encode new social information from faces that is related to these developmental tasks, such as the attractiveness, trustworthiness, competence, and social status of a face, particularly for peer-aged faces. Finally, in Hypothesis 3 (rel lines), Scherf and colleagues argued that the dynamical interactions between neural face processing regions are fundamentally altered as a result of the surge of gonadal hormones and the resulting new task demands for face processing in adolescence. This reorganization allows for new socially relevant information to be encoded from faces, leading the mergence

emergence of new components of face processing that are specifically relevant to accomplishing the developmental tasks of adolescence.

In this paper, we focus on the role of the *amygdala* in this process and suggest that it may lie at the heart of this functional reorganization within many of the broadly distributed neural circuits that support emerging and changing behaviors in adolescence. Our emphasis on the amygdala is motivated by several recent findings about its unique structural and functional properties. First, the amygdala is extensively interconnected with the vast majority of both cortical and subcortical regions, indicating that it participates in many distributed neural circuits (Pessoa, 2008). As a result, small changes in amygdala activation are likely to have pervasive effects on the many functional networks in which it participates. Second, recent models of amygdala function suggest that it critically modulates the determination of subjective salience (e.g., impact) and relevance of stimuli (relevance reflects the contextual and goal-dependent value of a stimulus within a personal situation) (e.g., Adolphs, 2010). Given that social signals take on new relevance and salience in the behavior of adolescents (e.g., peers), we suggest that this process is largely supported by changes in amygdala functioning and its interactions with many other neural regions (e.g., fusiform gyrus, orbitofrontal cortex, ventromedial prefrontal cortex, anterior cingulate cortex, thalamus, striatum, hypothalamus). Finally, the amygdala is one of the only neural regions in which both animal and human studies have validated the presence of estrogen and androgen receptors (e.g., Perlman et al., 2004; Roselli et al., 2001).¹ As a result, amygdala activation and functional connectivity patterns may be directly altered by sex hormones, which may influence the way in which the amygdala gages the salience and relevance of stimuli. The core hypothesis of this paper is that this combination of characteristics uniquely positions the amygdala to function as an agent of change in the functional organization of neural networks, particularly during adolescence when there is a surge in sex hormones concomitant with pubertal development and there are increasing demands to process social information and behave in social contexts in novel ways.

Importantly, although we focus on the role of the amygdala in functionally re-organizing neural networks that support behaviors relevant to the developmental tasks of adolescence, we are not suggesting that it is *solely* responsible for alterations in neural circuitry during adolescence. In fact, it is because of the vast connectivity that the amygdala exhibits with the majority of the brain that we focus on its potential contribution to these processes and acknowledge the essential nature of the functional interactions between the amygdala and many other regions to support these processes. Unfortunately, it is beyond the scope of this paper to review the functional properties and contributions of these other regions at length.²

To build this argument about the role of the amygdala in helping to reorganize neural networks in adolescence, we begin by describing the structural organization and hub-like architecture of the amygdala and review current models of amygdala functioning that emphasize its role in determining the relevance and significance of sensory inputs to the goals of the individual (Adolphs, 2010; Pessoa and Adolphs, 2010). Next, we review the evidence for structural and functional changes in the amygdala in human adolescents. We highlight findings that have linked pubertal maturation as a contributing factor to these changes. Finally, we emphasize how the amygdala is centrally involved in supporting several important behaviors (face processing, fear learning, stress responsivity) that change in human adolescence and that may be critical to accomplishing core developmental tasks of adolescence. These findings lay a foundation from which we can argue our central point, namely that the amygdala registers new relevance for existing stimuli, particularly social stimuli, and thereby re-weights inputs to existing neural networks. In so doing, this induces a destabilization in these networks, which allows for a critical re-organization in the functional interactions among regions within these networks. This process of network re-organization enables processing of qualitatively new kinds of social information and the emergence of novel behaviors that support mastery of adolescent-specific developmental tasks. In conclusion, we suggest additional work that will help evaluate the hypothesis that the amygdala may be an important agent of change in the organizational properties of neural networks and structure-function-behavior correspondences that specifically enable adolescents to master their unique challenges and developmental tasks.

Amygdala: structural organization and hub-like architecture

The amygdala is an almond-shaped structure in the medial temporal lobe. It is a complex of nuclei, the largest of which include the lateral, basal, accessory basal, and central nuclei (Schumann and Amaral, 2005). The amygdala is one of the most highly connected regions of the brain (Swanson, 2006; Young et al., 1994). In one analysis of structural brain connectivity, Young et al. (1994) concluded that the amygdala "occupies a position at the very geometric center of the topological map". Specifically, it exhibits a hub-like architecture in that it has extensive reciprocal structural connections with cortex and subcortical regions (Young et al., 1994). It receives inputs from visual, gustatory and visceral, auditory, olfactory, and somatosensory modalities (see Fig. 2). It also receives extensive inputs from the inferotemporal and prefrontal cortices, and has strong reciprocal connections with the regions in the medial temporal memory systems, including the hippocampus, perirhinal cortex, and entorhinal cortex.

There are also widespread reciprocal projections from the amygdala to subcortical regions including striatal, hypothalamic and brain stem regions. fMRI studies have also provided evidence of functional connections (i.e., temporal synchrony in activation patterns) between the amygdala and many of these regions to which it is structurally connected (Bickart et al., 2012; Mishra et al., 2013). This pattern of widespread structural and functional connectivity in and out of the amygdala highlights its unique position to integrate information, and particularly sensory, cognitive, and affective information (Pessoa, 2008). As mentioned previously, it also suggests that functional changes in the amygdala are likely to have widespread consequences on the network dynamics within the extensive circuitry that connects in and out of the amygdala.

In addition to functioning as a structural (and functional) hub of neural circuits in the brain, the amygdala is unique in that it is one of only a small number of regions that has receptors for sex hormones (e.g., Clark et al., 1988; Österlund et al., 1999; Perlman et al., 2004; Roselli et al., 2001; Rubinow and Schmidt, 1996). Functional neuroimaging studies have shown that sex hormones modulate amygdala activation (Bos et al., 2012; van Wingen et al., 2009) and functional connectivity between the amygdala and other regions (e.g., ventrolateral prefrontal cortex) in response to social stimuli (Volman et al., 2011). This provides support for our notion that pubertal hormones may directly influence changes in amygdala function, particularly during pubertal development, which could, in turn, impact the functional organization of the many neural networks in which the amygdala participates.

Determining relevance and significance of stimuli

Early lesion studies in monkeys and humans implicated the amygdala in processing threat- and fear-related information (Kluver and

¹ The hypothalamus and hippocampus are other such regions (see McEwen et al., 2012 for review).

² Many of these other important regions have been discussed in existing reviews of adolescent brain development. For example, we refer the reader to the following articles on the neural basis of changes in adolescent reward processing (Fareri et al., 2008; Galvan, 2010), face processing (Scherf et al., 2012), motivated behavior (Ernst and Fudge, 2009), cognitive control (Luna, 2009; Somerville and Casey, 2010), and risk-taking (Steinberg, 2008).



Fig. 2. Schematic diagram of the structural organization of the nuclei within the amygdaloid complex and the major structural connections in and out of the amygdala. The set of connections is not comprehensive, but does highlight the connections with other regions that are strongly implicated in supporting behaviors that change in adolescence and are related to the hypotheses in this manuscript. Abbreviations: ACC (anterior cingulate cortex), BNST (bed nucleus of stria terminalis), IPFC (lateral prefrontal cortex), MTL (medial temporal lobe), PVN (paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus), OFC (orbitofrontal cortex).

Bucy, 1937, 1939), but also in supporting social behavior and affiliation (Emery et al., 2001). Since those early studies, an immense literature has implicated the amygdala in a myriad of psychological processes across mammals. For example, in addition to processing negatively valenced stimuli (i.e., threat or fear related), the amygdala responds to positively valenced stimuli as well (for review see Ball et al., 2009). The amygdala also engages in responses to unpredictable and/or ambiguous stimuli (Whalen et al., 1998). For example, in both mice and humans, the amygdala is more responsive when listening to unpredictable compared to predictable streams of tones (Herry et al., 2007). These results lead researchers to emphasize the role of the amygdala in allocating processing resources toward stimuli that have more than one possible interpretation, and thus more than one prediction about subsequent events (Whalen, 2007; Whalen et al., 1998).

Recently, Adolphs (2010) and Pessoa and Adolphs (2010) have argued that these seemingly incompatible components of amygdala functioning are actually consistent with the idea that it processes the *subjective salience* (e.g., impact) and *relevance* of stimuli (relevance reflects the *contextual and goal-dependent value of a stimulus within a personal situation*). Importantly, Adolphs emphasizes a highly dynamic and context-sensitive role for the amygdala in evaluating the value of stimuli. In support of this view, he suggests that lesion and electrophysiological results in animal studies are largely consistent with the argument that the amygdala codes a continuously updated and flexibly deployed representation of stimulus value, regardless of valence. For example, selective lesions of the amygdala in non-human primates impair learning in tasks where information about stimulus value must be flexibly updated (Murray, 2007).

Using this model, we argue that the amygdala mediates a central feature of adolescent development involving a qualitative shift in the attribution of relevance and salience to existing stimuli (social stimuli in particular). For example, peer relations take on new salience as adolescents evaluate and test loyalty and develop a new interest in romantic and sexual relationships (Brown, 2004). In support of this process, we predict that the amygdala plays a central role in the process of re-evaluating and increasingly weighting the salience of peer faces and social contexts involving peers. Specifically, with the influx of pubertal hormones, the amygdala may begin to respond more strongly to peer faces, which could have downstream consequences for the functional organization of neural networks supporting motivated behavior (i.e., toward peers). Similarly, during pubertal development, the amygdala may exhibit reduced activation to social contexts that typically elicit fear in young children (e.g., physical separation from a parent), but that are no longer threatening to adolescents because of their need to become increasingly autonomous from parents. In sum, the relevance and salience of many social stimuli and contexts are changing in adolescence, which we argue, are likely to be reflected in modulations (increases and decreases) in amygdala activation. Furthermore, these modulations in activation will have pervasive downstream consequences on the functional networks in which the amygdala participates, which may have profound effects on the behaviors that these networks support.

Adolescence: structural changes in the amygdala

Structurally, the human amygdala undergoes rapid development early in life (Tottenham et al., 2009). Although the basic neuroanatomical architecture of the amygdala is present at birth in humans (Humphrey, 1968; Ulfig et al., 2003), there is continued growth of the amygdala volume through childhood and adolescence (Uematsu et al., 2012). Several recent cross-sectional studies tracked age-related changes in amygdala volume from infancy through early adulthood (Uematsu et al., 2012), childhood through adolescence (Giedd et al., 1996; Merke et al., 2003) and childhood through adulthood (Greimel et al., 2012; Guo et al., 2007; Ostby et al., 2009). These studies consistently report that raw amygdala volumes increase into early adulthood (Greimel et al., 2012; Ostby et al., 2009) and the age-related increases are even more apparent when the raw volumes are normalized for differences in total brain volume (Blanton et al., 2012; Ostby et al., 2009). Very recently, volumetric analyses of the amygdala in 4-18 year-old healthy participants from the NIH Pediatric Database revealed a quadratic pattern of change in the raw volume of the right amygdala in both boys and girls (and in girls in the left amygdala as well), indicating peak volumes during adolescence (approximately age 14 for girls) and smaller volumes in the youngest and oldest participants (Hu et al., 2013). Importantly, the rate of growth of the amygdala volume was related to pubertal development in both boys and girls, such that after the onset of puberty, the amygdala stopped growing (i.e., increasing in volume).

This finding is consistent with earlier reports that growth in amygdala volume is specifically related to pubertal development in both boys and girls (Blanton et al., 2012; Bramen et al., 2011; Neufang et al., 2009). For example, adolescent boys in later stages of pubertal development (i.e., Tanners stages 4-5) exhibit larger amygdala volume compared to age-matched adolescents in earlier stages of pubertal development (Tanner stages 1–3) (Bramen et al., 2011; Neufang et al., 2009). Neufang et al. (2009) also found a significant relation between testosterone levels and amygdala volume in both boys and girls and concluded that it accounts for 13-15% of the variance in amygdala volume among adolescents. There is some evidence that the trajectories of increasing amygdala volume in adolescence may be sexually dimorphic, with girls beginning to show a plateau or reduction in volume sooner than boys (Bramen et al., 2011; Hu et al., 2013; Merke et al., 2003). Together, these findings indicate that the amygdala, one of the most interconnected regions of the brain, is undergoing a developmental increase in volume during the adolescent period that is importantly tied to pubertal development and gonadal hormones. Note that this pattern of changing grey matter (GM) volume in the amygdala during adolescence is fairly unique in that the vast majority of other cortical and subcortical regions are exhibiting reductions in GM volume in adolescence (see Gogtay et al., 2004). Together, these findings support our notion that the amygdala is an important region to focus investigations of adolescent brain development as well as potentially unique changes in brain-behavior correspondences that are influenced by pubertal development and that are likely to be relevant to mastering the developmental tasks of adolescence.

Adolescence: functional changes in the amygdala

In addition to structural changes, the amygdala also undergoes functional changes in adolescence. In comparison to the structural studies, there are fewer large-scale cross-sectional (or longitudinal) studies investigating changes in amygdala function from childhood through adulthood. Most of the existing studies have utilized affective faces as stimuli in functional neuroimaging (fMRI) paradigms since they are effective at activating the amygdala in adults (Morris et al., 1998; Whalen et al., 1998) and adolescents (Baird et al., 1999). As reviewed in Malter Cohen et al. (2013), there are some reports of hyperactivation in the amygdala in adolescence compared to both children and adults. For example, Hare et al. (2008) used fMRI to scan 60 participants between the ages of 7 and 32 years in an emotional expression task. Adolescents exhibited more activation in the amygdala bilaterally in response to all emotional expressions (i.e., happy, fearful, calm) than either the children or the adults. This pattern of functional changes in the amygdala mirrors reports of nonlinear changes in amygdala volume that peak in adolescence (Hu et al., 2013). Other cross-sectional studies using a similar age range of participants (e.g., 9-40 years) have also reported hyperactivation in the amygdala in older children and adolescents in response to affective faces compared to adults (Guyer et al., 2008).

Recent longitudinal fMRI studies have reported increasing amygdala activation specifically during the transition from late childhood to early adolescence and as a function of pubertal development. Pfeifer and colleagues scanned children (10 years old) transitioning into early adolescence (13 years old) as they observed affective faces (Pfeifer et al., 2011). Activation in both the right and left amygdala tended to increase across all emotional expressions during this developmental transition into adolescence. Importantly, activation in both the ventral striatum and the ventromedial prefrontal cortex significantly increased in response to the affective faces as children transitioned into adolescence as well. Recall that these regions are highly interconnected with the amygdala (see Fig. 2). The authors suggested that these changing cortical and subcortical responses to facial expressions in the transition to adolescence may reflect changing abilities to regulate affective responses to the environment.

Using this same sample, Moore et al. (2012) reported that even at age 10 when most participants were in the earliest stages of pubertal development, there was a positive correlation between stage of pubertal development and the magnitude of activation within the amygdala. The authors also reported similar relations between pubertal development and activation in the thalamus and extrastriate cortex, regions that work with the amygdala to process the salience and relevance of social signals (Adolphs, 2008). These relations between pubertal development and activation in the amygdala, thalamus, and extrastriate cortex *increased through age 13*, as participants began to enter later stages of pubertal development. The authors interpreted these findings to reflect the neural foundations of how puberty may 'reorient' adolescents toward social stimuli, such that complex emotional expressions begin to take on increased relevance in the transition to adolescence.

There are also a small number of studies that have failed to report hyperactivation in the amygdala in children and/or adolescents compared to adults during face processing tasks. However, some of these same studies failed to elicit activation in the amygdala in both the developmental and the adult groups (Nelson et al., 2003) or did not have imaging protocols that were specifically optimized to measure amygdala activation (Deeley et al., 2008; Pine et al., 2001). One study reported a decrease in activation in response to neutral faces in 11–13 year olds in later stages of pubertal development compared to age-match individuals in earlier stages of pubertal development (Forbes et al., 2011). Interestingly, the two groups produced similar amygdala activation to fearful faces. One interpretation of these data that is consistent with the core hypothesis in this paper is that faces with neutral expressions are becoming less relevant to adolescents as a function of pubertal development. In other words, as adolescents become increasingly better at discriminating and interpreting facial expressions, the neutral face may become less and less relevant and/ or confusable compared to other expressions.

There is only one study, to our knowledge, that used non-face images to investigate developmental changes in amygdala functioning during adolescence. Vasa et al. (2011) tested adolescents (ages 12–17 years) and adults in a subsequent-memory paradigm. Stimuli included positively, negatively, and neutrally valenced non-face images. Participants were scanned while they rated the images along several different dimensions and the data were then sorted according to which images were subsequently remembered in the surprise memory test following the scan. Interestingly, adolescents and adults exhibited similar magnitudes of activation in the amygdala in response to the remembered negative images. In contrast, adolescents exhibited higher magnitude responses in the right amygdala than did adults in response to the remembered positive images. The authors suggested that this positive encoding bias in the adolescents might be related to the increased reward and novelty seeking behavior exhibited in adolescence, which in turn supports the need for

increasing autonomy and individuation. This idea is consistent with the core hypothesis of this paper regarding the role of the amygdala in re-evaluating the relevance of stimuli that are central to accomplishing the developmental tasks of adolescence.

Finally, there are a very small number of studies investigating age-related changes in the profile of amygdala functional connectivity. One study used resting-state functional magnetic resonance imaging to examine age-related variations in the intrinsic connectivity of the amygdala in children (ages 7-9 years) and young adults (Qin et al., 2012). Compared with adults, children exhibited weaker intrinsic functional connectivity between the amygdala and ventromedial prefrontal cortex (PFC), cingulate gyrus, anterior temporal pole, and subcortical structures including the caudate, putamen, midbrain and cerebellum. Furthermore, when they examined differences in the connectivity networks of amygdala subregions (basolateral amygdala versus centromedial amygdala-see Fig. 2), they found that children exhibited less differentiation and more overlap in these subregion networks than did adults. In other words, the intrinsic connectivity patterns of the amygdala become stronger and more differentiated across subregions of the amygdala in the transition from late childhood to early adulthood. The authors described these changes as "development-related reconfiguration of intrinsic functional networks" that likely "underlies the maturation of increasingly complex affective functions that typically occur during adolescence." Although the authors did not include adolescents in this analysis, the notion that there is a massive transition in the organization of the resting state amygdala functional connectivity between late childhood and early adulthood suggests that the connectivity networks of the amygdala may not be adult-like even in adolescence. Again, this notion is consistent with the core hypothesis of the current paper. However, it will be imperative to evaluate the resting state functional connectivity patterns of early and later adolescents to evaluate this claim.

Other studies have investigated developmental task-related modulations in amygdala functional connectivity, and report that 1) connectivity between the amygdala and the anterior cingulate gyrus during fearful face processing increases with age across middle childhood (5–11 years of age) but is weaker overall than in adults (Perlman and Pelphrey, 2011), and 2) amygdala-medial prefrontal connectivity actually *reverses valence* from positive to negative around age 10 (Gee et al., 2013), when adrenal androgens are reaching adult levels. This negative connectivity between the amygdala and the medial PFC remains through early adulthood, suggesting the emergence of a regulatory role of medial PFC on the amygdala. Together, these studies suggest that in addition to changes in the functional profile of activation in the amygdala, the interactions between the amygdala and many other regions are changing, in potentially qualitative ways, over the course of late childhood.

This series of studies demonstrates that there are measurable changes in the functional response of the amygdala and its functional connections from childhood to adolescence and adulthood, particularly in response to facial expressions but also to positively valenced non-face images. Generally, this includes stronger magnitude responses in adolescents than either children or adults and strengthening and differentiating of functional networks involving the amygdala. Importantly, these conclusions are largely based on findings from cross-sectional studies. Additional longitudinal work is needed to understand the full developmental trajectory of amygdala functional activation from childhood through early adulthood and to further evaluate the notion that there are adolescent-specific changes in such activation. For example, as we will discuss later (fear learning in adolescence), there are very few studies that specifically investigate potential reductions in amygdala responses as a function of adolescent development. We argue that both increases and reductions in amygdala activation can lead to wide-spread changes in the functional profile of the neural networks in which the amygdala participates. Additionally, it is critical that future studies investigate changes in the functional connectivity of the amygdala during rest and/or under task conditions in the transition from late childhood to early and later adolescence in typically developing individuals.

In the next sections of the paper, we garner support for our core hypothesis regarding the role of the amygdala in altering neural network organization during adolescence. We review evidence that several behaviors particularly relevant to the developmental tasks of adolescence are largely dependent on neural networks revolving around the amygdala, and also exhibit impressive changes over the course of adolescence. These include adolescent-specific changes in behavior and neural circuitry supporting face processing, fear learning, and physiological and psychological responses to stressors.

Adolescent changes in face processing

Faces are the pre-eminent social signal and, as adults, we seamlessly extract multiple kinds of information from face structure, such as identity, gender, age, and emotional state, even as faces change dynamically as a function of expression and speech production and vary across many transformations (i.e., changes in lighting, viewpoint, context). Additionally, people use the structure of the face to form impressions about mate potential, social status, intentions, and personality traits, like trustworthiness, approachability, warmth, power, extraversion, aggressiveness, and competence (for review, see Todorov et al., 2007). As a result, processing of faces is highly relevant to many of the developmental tasks of adolescence, and particularly those that have to do with forming more adult-like relationships with peers and beginning to form age-appropriate romantic relationships.

There is a wealth of data suggesting that face-processing abilities develop through and beyond adolescence. Although infants have early proclivities for face processing (e.g., Farroni et al., 2005) and even very young children exhibit some of the behavioral markers of adult-like face processing (e.g., Crookes and McKone, 2009), studies investigating face processing abilities of older children and adolescents suggest that both *emotional expression* recognition and *identity* recognition abilities develop long into adolescence and even early adulthood.

Explicit memory for emotional expressions improves from late childhood through adolescence (Herba and Phillips, 2004; Herba et al., 2006; Pine et al., 2004; Thomas et al., 2007). Recognition of emotional expressions also emerges slowly during childhood and may even be delayed compared to recognition of the verbal labels for the expressions (Camaras and Allison, 1985; Durand et al., 2007). Furthermore, it is not until middle childhood that individuals become fairly accurate at identifying conflicting or mixed emotional expressions and understanding display rules (Brown and Dunn, 1996).

Similarly, the ability to recognize face identity follows a delayed developmental trajectory beyond adolescence (e.g., Carey and Diamond, 1977; Carey et al., 1980; Diamond et al., 1983; Mondloch et al., 2004; O'Hearn et al., 2010). These results have been reported across a wide range of recognition tasks and age range from childhood through early and later adulthood. For example, O'Hearn et al. (2010) studied face recognition abilities in both typically developing children (ages 9-12 years), adolescents (ages 13-17), and young adults (ages 18-29 years) as well as in those with autism using the Cambridge Face Memory Task (CFMT). They reported large improvements in face recognition performance across the entire age range in the typically developing individuals. Similarly, Germine et al. (2011) tested identity recognition abilities using the same CFMT in more than 60,000 participants ranging in age from 10 to 70 years. Across a series of three experiments, they consistently found that the peak age of performance for face recognition was approximately 30 years of age, which was contrasted with a peak age of recognition for inverted faces and words at 23 years of age. In sum, there are a large number of cross-sectional behavioral studies that converge on the conclusion

that face-processing abilities improve through (and even beyond) adolescence.

Interestingly, there is also evidence that the developmental trajectory of face expression and identity recognition abilities is actually temporarily disrupted during adolescence, especially during puberty (Carey et al., 1980; Diamond and Carey, 1977; Diamond et al., 1983; Flin, 1980; Lawrence et al., 2008; McGivern et al., 2002). The initial study to report this temporary disruption in face-processing skills during pubertal development tested children and adolescents (8-16 years) in a face identity recognition task (Diamond et al., 1983). Diamond and colleagues identified a stasis in face identity recognition, with an actual decline in performance at age 12. In two follow-up studies, they evaluated the contribution of pubertal status to performance differences on the same face identity task in more than 200 girls ages 10-14 years. Across both studies, the authors found that girls in the midst of pubertal change make more errors in the face identity task than do pre- or post-pubescent girls (Diamond et al., 1983). The researchers suggested that this adolescent-specific disruption in face processing skills may be directly tied to gonadal hormonal changes that influence the neural substrate for face processing.

The neural substrate of face processing in adults is widely distributed and includes a set of "core" visuoperceptual regions (i.e., fusiform face area [FFA], occipital face area, posterior superior temporal sulcus) as well as a set of "extended" regions that include the amygdala, posterior cingulate cortex, anterior temporal lobe, striatum, insula, and ventromedial prefrontal cortex (see Fig. 3a) (Gobbini and Haxby, 2007). The overwhelming majority of studies investigating developmental changes in the neural basis of face processing have focused on the amygdala in expression tasks or the posterior "core" regions during recognition tasks. As reviewed above, many studies have reported that amygdala activation increases from childhood to adolescence during emotion expression tasks (e.g., Guyer et al., 2008; Hare et al., 2008; Moore et al., 2012; Pfeifer et al., 2011). Similarly, the neuroimaging studies measuring age-related changes in the "core" face processing regions converge on the finding that children younger than 8 years of age, as a group, do not consistently activate the FFA. Furthermore, they consistently report that the transition between childhood and early adolescence is important for the emergence of adult-like face-related activation in core face-processing regions (Aylward et al., 2005; Gathers et al., 2004; Golarai et al., 2007, 2010; Joseph et al., 2011; Passarotti et al., 2003, 2007; Peelen et al., 2009; Scherf et al., 2007, 2012). One study also reported a correlation between face recognition behavior and activation patterns in these core regions in adolescents (Golarai et al., 2010). Importantly, none of these studies has explained the neural basis of the reported temporary disruption in face recognition skills during pubertal development.

There are two recent studies that evaluate developmental changes in the functional connectivity within the broader face processing system (Cohen Kadosh et al., 2011; Joseph et al., 2012). Each of these studies uses different analytic approaches (dynamic causal modeling and graph-theory approach respectively) for evaluating age-related changes in functional connectivity in children and adults. In addition, Joseph et al. (2012) also included young adolescents. Both studies reported age-related changes in the global patterns of functional connectivity within the core (Cohen Kadosh et al., 2011; Joseph et al., 2012) and extended (Joseph et al., 2012) face processing regions. For example, Joseph et al. (2012) reported that during face viewing, the connectivity patterns among the face-processing network exhibited a significant "reorganization" across age that involved both integration and segregation of nodes within and across sub-modules within the larger face-processing network. In other words, the nodes of the face-processing network were grouped into different sub-networks at different ages, with adults exhibiting fewer, more integrated sub-networks. Unfortunately, neither of these connectivity studies included the amygdala as a node in their network analyses. However, the results are consistent with the idea that there are large-scale age-related re-configurations in the functional organization of the nodes within the broader face-processing network.

Previously, it has been argued that more social aspects of face processing, like the ability to evaluate attractiveness, trustworthiness, social status, and dominance are likely to emerge in adolescence (Scherf et al., 2012). The amygdala is largely implicated in many of these social components of face processing (Todorov et al., 2013). Importantly, there are no behavioral or neuroimaging studies (to our knowledge) that evaluate developmental changes in the amygdala-mediated social components of face processing, which may be central to the developmental tasks of adolescence. Furthermore, Scherf and colleagues predicted that, with increasing pubertal development, stronger inputs from the amygdala will ultimately support these new social components of face processing, which may in turn disrupt the existing coordination among regions that compute visuoperceptual and cognitive components of face processing like identity recognition (Scherf et al., 2012). Herein, we extend this argument to suggest that pubertal hormones might directly alter amygdala functioning, enabling the emergence of these more social components of face processing, which would lead to stronger connectivity from the amygdala to the FFA during socially oriented face processing tasks (e.g., judging attractiveness of a face), and potentially weaker functional connectivity among the core face processing regions during recognition tasks, particularly when the recognition tasks are executed in the context of affective or highly socially relevant (e.g., very attractive peer) faces. This pattern of results would help explain the previous findings of a behavioral disruption in face recognition abilities with pubertal development. An evaluation of this hypothesis will require future studies investigating developmental changes in 1) the nature of the face-related computations that are mediated by the amygdala and FFA (using fMRI-adaptation paradigmssee Scherf et al., 2012) and 2) modulations in the functional and effective connectivity between the amygdala and fusiform gyrus and other face processing regions as children, adolescents at varying stages of pubertal development, and adults view faces in a variety of tasks that modulate the relative social demands of face processing. This kind of approach may provide a unique opportunity to evaluate the potentially critical role of the amygdala in affecting whether and how functional reorganization occurs among broadly distributed neural networks in adolescence.

Changes in adolescent fear learning

There is a drastic increase in risk-taking behaviors in adolescence (see Dahl, 2004), suggesting that the processing of potentially fearful stimuli and contexts may be altered in at this time developmentally. Importantly, changes in fear learning may be central to the developmental tasks of adolescence. Consistent with this notion, adolescents do exhibit an increase in novelty- and sensation-seeking behaviors, which might reflect weaker aversive conditioning (i.e., imbuing neutral stimuli with negative value; Ernst et al., 2011), that arguably facilitates the learning of new skills for initiating new kinds of romantic and sexual relationships (Crone and Dahl, 2012). We evaluate the evidence in support of the notion that fear learning and extinction, which are largely mediated by a distributed neural circuit that centers around the amygdala and its connections (LeDoux, 2007) (see Fig. 3b), are altered during adolescence.

From an evolutionary perspective, fear has an important and adaptive function: to get an organism to predict potentially negative outcomes and prepare itself for escape. Fear learning is usually studied in the laboratory using Pavlovian classical conditioning paradigms (Pavlov and Anrep, 1927) in which a neutral event, such as a tone (the CS), is paired with an aversive event, such as a shock (the US). Over repeated CS–US pairings, the presentation of the tone alone will come to elicit a conditioned fear response (CR). Across species, the amygdala has emerged as a critical structure involved in the acquisition and expression of fear conditioning (LeDoux, 2000; Maren,



Fig. 3. Distributed neural circuits mediating a) face processing, b) fear learning and extinction, and c) stress responsivity. Abbreviations: ACC (anterior cingulate cortex), Ant (anterior), FFA (fusiform face area), OFA (occipital face area), pSTS (posterior superior temporal sulcus), vmPFC (ventromedial prefrontal cortex).

2001; Phelps and LeDoux, 2005). For instance, in human adults, neuroimaging studies report increasing amygdala activation in response to CSs that predict shock (LaBar et al., 1998; Morris et al., 1998). Also, amygdala-lesioned patients demonstrate a lack of conditioned fear response even though they exhibit explicit knowledge of contingencies between the CS and US (Bechara et al., 1995; LaBar et al., 1995).

Despite the abundance of findings implicating the amygdala in fear learning across species and within human adults, much less is known about changes in the behavioral foundation and neural mechanisms supporting fear learning across development, particularly during adolescence. This is unfortunate given that adolescence is a time of heightened sensitivity to salient stimuli, such as fearful stimuli, that can influence exploratory behavior (see Dahl, 2004). One of the reasons for this parity of research in fear learning across development is that it is difficult to employ the same paradigms in young children and adolescents that are used to study fear learning in adults because there are ethical limitations in the ability to use particular USs (like mild shock). While less noxious stimuli are somewhat effective in eliciting a CR in adults (e.g., losing money, Delgado et al., 2011) and adolescents (e.g., fearful expressions, Monk et al., 2003, accompanied by screams, Lau et al., 2008), these responses do not necessarily rely on amygdala mechanisms (Delgado et al., 2011) or involve fear per se.

Thus far, only one human developmental neuroimaging study has evaluated potential age-related differences in fear learning. Lau et al. (2011) designed a novel fear-conditioning task in which they paired a neutral face with a fearful face and a scream. Fear learning was associated with disproportionately higher activation in adolescents compared to adults in the right amygdala in response to the fear-reinforced neutral face (compared to the non-reinforced face). In addition, the adolescents were less able than adults to discriminate threatening from safe stimuli, which may reflect an amplified state of vigilance promoted by the heightened amygdala activation. Despite the interesting finding, there is a clear need for additional studies in order to understand potential differences in the behavioral and neural mechanisms of fear learning in human adolescents.

The need for future studies investigating the developmental trajectory of fear learning across childhood and adolescence is underscored by results from rodent studies. These studies report that there are age-related differences in amygdala functioning that vary with type of conditioning (which may involve amygdala interactions with different regions) and period of adolescence. For instance, Pattwell et al. (2011) evaluated the acquisition, retrieval, and expression of fear memories in four separate cohorts of mice whose age corresponded to early, middle, and late adolescence, and mature adulthood. The mice were conditioned with tone-foot shock pairings and tested for behavioral evidence of subsequent contextual fear learning (e.g., freezing behavior when put back in the conditioning chamber). The early adolescent mice exhibited significantly less freezing behavior at test, indicating weaker contextual fear learning, than did the older adolescent and adult mice. In a follow-up study, the researchers demonstrated that these weaker responses were specific to the adolescent developmental period, in that younger, pre-pubescent mice showed the same magnitude contextual fear response as adult mice. In other words, the magnitude of the contextual fear response exhibited an inverted U-shaped pattern of development, such that prepubescent and sexually mature animals exhibited the same magnitude response, while early adolescent mice showed a relatively blunted response (i.e., weaker and less contextualized fear learning). Furthermore, the suppression of contextual fear learning was associated with blunting of amygdala synaptic activity and altered protein kinase functioning in the hippocampus in the adolescent mice. The authors interpreted these data to indicate that the weaker contextual fear learning reflects an adaptive function to blunt amygdala responses as mice transition to more explorative approach behaviors and leave the nest (as proposed by Pattwell et al., 2011 and based on Spear and Brake, 1983), which is consistent with the hypotheses proposed in the current paper. However, it is also important to note that these alterations in contextual fear learning could also be related to decreased learning given changes in hippocampal function in early puberty (Shen et al., 2010) and/or to changing interactions between the amygdala and hippocampus during contextual fear conditioning (e.g., Guyer et al., 2008). In sum, these results indicate that there may be alterations in contextual fear learning, specifically during adolescence. However, more research is needed to fully understand the factors that influence the amygdala's involvement in fear acquisition and expression during adolescence.

An important next step in this area of research will be to investigate how interactions between the amygdala and other regions promote developmental changes in fear learning. In adults, active coping in response to fear reactions depends on amygdala-striatal connections (Killcross et al., 1997; LeDoux and Gorman, 2001). In fact, activation in these two regions is positively correlated during adult avoidance learning (Delgado et al., 2009). A potentially innovative strategy to investigate changing dynamics between striatal and amygdala activation during adolescence would be to employ dynamic paradigms of avoidance learning that use developmentally appropriate reinforcers for juvenile participants, including faces (Hare et al., 2005), money (Niznikiewicz and Delgado, 2011), and video game characters (Nadler et al., 2011). Indeed, this approach has been used to show that threatening cues (e.g., snake) elicit activation in both the striatum and amygdala during an avoidance paradigm in young adolescents and that amygdala responses correlate with avoidance response rates (Schlund and Cataldo, 2010). Also, behaviorally inhibited adolescents (i.e., extremely shy) exhibit increased striatal activity in anticipation of potential monetary losses in a similar avoidance paradigm (Guyer et al., 2006).

Another region that is highly interconnected with the amygdala is the ventromedial prefrontal cortex (vmPFC; see Fig. 2), and in adults the two regions are often inversely correlated during tasks requiring emotion regulation (e.g., cognitive reappraisal to attenuate negative affect elicited by unpleasant photographs, Urry et al., 2006). Importantly, functional connectivity between these regions appears to be immature in adolescents performing similar emotion regulation tasks (Hare et al., 2008). The human vmPFC has been linked to various processes ranging from valuation and decision-making (see Rangel et al., 2008 for review) to extinction (Milad et al., 2007; Phelps et al., 2004) and emotion regulation (Delgado et al., 2008) of conditioned fear. Pattwell et al. (2012) recently provided an elegant example of work highlighting developmental changes in prefrontal cortical function and the potential downstream influence on fear-related amygdala activity during adolescence. They showed that extinction learning (the process in which a CS is presented without a reinforcer, which leads to new learning; Davis, 1992) is attenuated in both mice and human adolescents (Pattwell et al., 2012), which has been recently observed in adolescent rats as well (Zang and Rosenkranz, 2013). In other words, it takes many more presentations of the CS in the absence of the reinforcer to extinguish the conditioned fear response in both adolescent mice and humans compared to younger and adult aged participants. The authors further demonstrated that a lack of synaptic plasticity specifically with the vmPFC was associated with the blunted extinction learning in mice, highlighting the potential neural mechanism through which the attenuation of extinction may be occurring. Pattwell et al. (2012) argued that these data support the notion that top-down prefrontal regulation of subcortical structures, and the amygdala in particular, is diminished in adolescence, which results from compromised amygdala-vmPFC interactions. This interpretation is consistent with reports that the intrinsic (i.e., resting state) functional connectivity between the amygdala and vmPFC is inversely correlated with concurrent anxiety symptoms in adolescent girls (Burghy et al., 2012).

Together, the scant evidence suggests that fear learning and extinction exhibit alterations in rodent and human adolescents compared to either pre-pubescent individuals or sexually mature adults, which may be tied to intrinsic changes in amygdala activation, but also to alterations in amygdala-striatal, amygdala-hippocampal, as well as amygdala-prefrontal interactions. Interestingly, some of the findings from these studies are consistent with our assertion that the amygdala is implicated in mediating changes in important behaviors, like processing of potentially fearful stimuli and situations, that change in human adolescence and that are critical to accomplishing core developmental tasks of adolescence. However, it is important to recognize that understanding the developmental trajectory of changes in fear acquisition and extinction is complex and that much work needs to be done to evaluate this hypothesis. Understanding the processes associated with fear learning, like avoidance behaviors and emotion regulation abilities, may be particularly helpful for sorting out whether and how responses to fearful stimuli and their resultant consequences for behavior are fundamentally altered in adolescence.

Adolescent changes in stress responses

Recently, Spear (2009) proposed that an increase in stress reactivity in adolescence could provide greater physiological support for competent functioning in the face of significant cognitive and emotional stressors, and particularly social-evaluative stressors. Given that the amygdala is centrally involved in regulating stress reactivity, this proposal is consistent with the central notion of this paper. As a result, we review the evidence that an increase in stress reactivity occurs in early adolescence. Further, we evaluate the claim that such changes might support the acquisition of competencies to respond to the social, affective, and cognitive challenges imposed by the new developmental tasks of adolescence (Spear, 2009).

Together with the hippocampus and prefrontal cortex, the amygdala modulates the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis (Herman et al., 2003), which secretes stress hormones to mobilize an organism to respond to both internal and external demands imposed by stressful stimuli (for review see Romeo, 2010b). There is an emerging body of evidence from both human (Gunnar et al., 2009a; Stroud et al., 2009; Sumter et al., 2010) and animal (Romeo et al., 2006) studies suggesting that there is an increase in HPA activity in the transition from late childhood to early adolescence. Furthermore, animal studies have also shown that pubertal animals exhibit higher sensitivity to stress-induced alterations in brain and behavior than do adult animals. There are several outstanding reviews of the evidence indicating that stress responses increase in human (e.g., Spear, 2000, 2009) and rodent (Romeo, 2010a, 2010b) adolescents. It is bevond the scope of this paper to provide a comprehensive review of this evidence. Instead, we highlight findings from the animal and human studies that specifically reflect on our hypothesis about the role of the amygdala in modulating neural circuitry that supports the perceptual, cognitive, social, and affective behaviors that are essential for navigating the developmental tasks of adolescence.

Activation of the HPA axis is initiated in the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) of the hypothalamus (for review see Romeo, 2010b). The PVN secretes corticotrophin-releasing hormone, the downstream consequences of which include subsequent increases in cortisol released from the adrenal cortex. Cortisol is a primary stress hormone that, among other functions, helps mobilize an organism to respond to the internal and external demands imposed by stressors. Importantly, the amygdala can modulate HPA activity. The central nucleus of the amygdala projects to and inhibits the bed nucleus of stria terminalis (BNST) in the hypothalamus, which itself provides inhibitory inputs to the PVN (see Fig. 2). As a result, the amygdala can inhibit inhibitory inputs to the PVN. The net result is an increase in PVN activation and the subsequent increase in the release of adrenocorticotropin and corticosterone secretion (Prewitt and Herman, 1997). In other words, increased activation in the amygdala can increase stress responses.

In addition, given the presence of estrogen and androgen receptors in the amygdala, it may also be a central structure for mediating interactions between HPA axis activity and the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal (HPG) axis activity (Romeo, 2010b), the system responsible for the release of gonadal hormones during pubertal maturation. For example, in adult male rats testosterone reduces stress reactivity (e.g., peak and recovery time of the hormonal stress response) but estradiol and progesterone tend to heighten stress responses in adult female rats (reviewed in Romeo, 2010a). Given this sensitivity to gonadal hormone modulation of stress reactivity in adult animals, it is plausible that the infusion of gonadal hormones during pubertal development has a measurable influence on stress reactivity in adolescence. An interesting question is whether this influence functionally contributes to the mastery of developmental tasks in adolescence.

Much of the animal work investigating adolescent-related changes in stress responsivity suggests that there are increases in stress responsivity in the transition to adolescence, but that it then declines as animals progress through pubertal development (i.e., and inverted U-shaped function of stress responsivity). Two of the most consistent findings from the animal literature are that basal levels of stress hormones do not differ between pre-pubertal and sexually mature adult animals, but that responses to acute stressors do differ. For example, following 30 min of restraint, pre-pubertal animals exhibit a higher peak in the stress hormone response as well as a longer time for the stress hormone response to recover to basal levels compared to sexually mature adult animals (Romeo, 2005). These findings suggest that HPA axis reactivity is higher prior to pubertal development than in sexually mature adults and that it decreases in reactivity following pubertal maturation. An important caveat about this work, however, is that the vast majority of it compares pre-pubertal and sexually mature animals. Much less of it tracks changes in stress responsivity specifically as a function of pubertal development. Importantly, there is an emerging body of work in human adolescents evaluating changes in stress responsivity specifically as a function of adolescence and pubertal development.

The pattern of results emerging from the developing literature on pubertal development and stress reactivity in human adolescences converges on, but is also a bit different from, the findings in the animal literature. Importantly, and particularly relevant for the current paper, the human literature has largely focused on adolescent-specific responses to ecologically valid *social-evaluative stressors*, like being evaluated by peers during an episode of public speaking or experiencing peer rejection (e.g., Dickerson, 2008). Many of the human adolescent stress studies have incorporated measures of pubertal development that allow for the evaluation of changes in stress responses as a function of pubertal development. Unlike in the animal work, very little of the human work investigates developmental transitions in stress responsivity in the transition from adolescence to early adulthood, which may limit our understanding of how changes in stress responsivity change throughout the course of adolescence.

Although the animal literature suggests that basal levels of stress hormones do not change as a function of adolescent development, the human literature suggests otherwise (e.g., Adam, 2006; Elmlinger et al., 2002; Netherton et al., 2004). For example, Adam (2006) evaluated the relation between stages of pubertal development and basal cortisol levels by collecting multiple samples from adolescents in naturalistic settings over the course of a two-day period. She found that later stages of pubertal development were associated with higher daytime basal cortisol levels. More recent studies have also provided converging evidence that basal cortisol levels increase with age and pubertal development in adolescents (Gunnar et al., 2009a). The interpretation of these findings is that they reflect an increase in the tonic level of HPA axis activity in adolescents. Importantly, it is not clear why such an increase should necessarily occur in adolescence. One possibility is that this reflects the emergence of HPA axis modulation by the HPG system, as a result of the influx of pubertal hormones at this time in development. Alternatively (or in addition), an increase in the tonic level of HPA axis activity during adolescence could also reflect age-related differences in the frequency and/or intensity of exposure to daily stressors in adolescence. In other words, as adolescents become increasingly autonomous from parents and begin to take on adult social roles and responsibilities, they may be encountering more frequent and more intense daily stressors, which are reflected in higher cortisol levels. Another potential explanation for the increase in basal cortisol levels is that it reflects the more risky environments that adolescents seek out as a result of their increasing motivation to engage in novelty- and sensation-seeking behaviors. In other words, HPA axis activity may be registering (and providing feedback about) the level of risk in their changing environments. This would lead to the prediction that adolescents who exhibit the highest levels of novelty- and sensation-seeking as well as risk-taking behaviors may also have the highest HPA axis reactivity in age-appropriate stressor paradigms.

There is also evidence for heightened stress reactivity in human adolescents. Importantly, existing studies have employed public speaking tasks in which the stressor is the social evaluative threat of negative judgment by others. These public speaking tasks include the three elements of psychological stress or paradigms that are critical to provoking cortisol levels in adults, including unpredictability, uncontrollability, and social-evaluative threat (Dickerson and Kemeny, 2004). In one of the first studies of its kind, Gunnar et al. (2009a) measured pubertal development and salivary cortisol during 1) a baseline adaptation period prior to the task, 2) while participants were preparing their speech, and 3) following the delivery of a public speech in 9 to 15 year-old individuals. Basal cortisol levels in the baseline period were significantly and positively associated with age, particularly in the transition between 13 and 15 years of age. Older adolescents (13 and 15 year-olds) also exhibited higher peak cortisol levels following the delivery of the speech than younger adolescents and children, as well as longer recovery times (approximately 50 min to return to baseline levels in the 15-yr-olds versus 40 min for the younger groups). Correlational analyses suggested that pubertal development was moderately associated with cortisol levels both at baseline and following the stressor task.

Similarly, Stroud et al. (2009) compared stress responses of children and young adolescents (ages 7–12 years) to those of older adolescents (ages 13–17 years) elicited by both peer rejection and performance-oriented tasks (e.g., public speaking). In response to both types of stressors, the older adolescents exhibited higher cortisol levels and longer recovery periods than did the children and younger adolescents; however, the group differences were only statistically significant in response to the performance-related stressors. The peer rejection stressor elicited more sympathetic nervous system activation (i.e., saliva alpha amylase levels) and stronger cardiovascular stress responses in the older (relative to younger) adolescents.

Finally, in an attempt to disentangle effects of age and pubertal status on stress responsivity, Sumter et al. (2010) employed a modified version of a public speaking task in which they included a substantial period (one week) of anticipation for the participants (ages 9 to 17 years) prior to giving a speech. Age and pubertal status both contributed to increases in cortisol levels from baseline in response to the task, particularly during the anticipation period. These results suggest that biological stress reactivity does appear to increase in adolescence in humans, particularly during later stages of pubertal development.

Together, these studies provide preliminary but converging evidence for the notion that stress responses to *social-evaluative stressors* increase in the transition from late childhood to early and later adolescence and that pubertal hormones may modulate this increased sensitivity. However, it is important to note that many studies using public speaking tasks (including Gunnar et al., 2009a) with children and adolescents report that children under the age of 13 do not exhibit a consistent increase in cortisol in response to this task (for review see Dickerson and Kemeny, 2004). This finding evokes questions about what "counts" as a psychological stressor and whether/how that determination changes with age and pubertal development. One interpretation of the difficulty finding consistent cortisol increases in these public speaking tasks in young adolescents is that socialevaluation only becomes a strong psychological stressor with age and/or pubertal development. This interpretation would be consistent with the notion that adolescents are becoming increasingly aware of social cues about their social value (or status) across varying social contexts. In other words, the extant findings of age- and pubertalrelated increases in *cortisol reactivity to social-evaluative stressors* might specifically reflect important changes in adolescent social information processing that are related to the developmental tasks of beginning to evaluate peers (and one's self) for potential romantic and sexual partnerships.

An interesting test of this hypothesis would involve evaluating age- and puberty-related changes in cortisol responses by testing the same individuals across a variety of stressor paradigms. For example, comparing age- and puberty-related changes in cortisol responses to non-social, noxious stressors (i.e., mild pain from venipuncture), to stressors that may be more relevant to children than to adolescents and adults (e.g., maternal separation), as well as to those observed in response to a social evaluative stressor would be particularly useful in evaluating this hypothesis. To our knowledge, there are no studies that utilize within-person designs (across multiple stressor paradigms) to evaluate developmental changes in stress responsivity. However, there are some findings in the literature that suggest that stressor paradigms are most effective in eliciting cortisol increases when they reflect the developmental tasks of a particular age group. For example, although maternal separation elicits cortisol increases in 9- and 12-month infants, it is associated with a decrease in cortisol in young children (ages 3-5 years; see full review of studies in Gunnar et al., 2009b). Based on these findings, we would expect to see little to no HPA reactivity in older children and young adolescents in response to maternal separation, which would suggest that adolescents do not exhibit a general increase in HPA axis reactivity to all stressors. In adults, physical stressors, like immersing one's hand in ice water, often do not elicit strong cortisol elevations (although they do drive strong sympathetic nervous system activation) unless a socialevaluative component is incorporated into the task (e.g., men being watched by women during the task; Schwabe et al., 2008). This finding suggests that HPA axis reactivity in adults may be particularly sensitive to processing ambiguous social information (e.g., "does she think I am a weak guy?"), particularly as it is related to one's own social standing. Using a social and non-social cold pressor task as has been used with adults would be particularly helpful for sorting out whether adolescents have increased HPA axis activity to all stressor types, or whether there are selective age-related and/or pubertyrelated increases in sensitivity of the HPA axis unique to social evaluation.

To return to our central hypothesis, we suggest that although these data about increasing stress sensitivity in adolescence do not explicitly implicate the amygdala, it is a central component of the neural systems that regulate stress responses. Therefore, the existing findings are consistent with the hypothesis we are presenting in this paper. Recall that increased amygdala activation can increase stress responsivity (by inhibiting inhibitory inputs to the PVN). Considering the reports of a developmental increase in amygdala activation in adolescence, another potential explanation for the observed increase in basal cortisol levels, particularly in later stages of pubertal development, may be that it reflects a downstream consequence of increased amygdala activation that is elicited by new demands on social information processing. In other words, the change in the set point of the HPA axis in adolescence may be a result of dramatic changes in the profile of functioning within the amygdala, which may also help shape the sensitivity of HPA axis reactivity to social evaluation that is consistently observed in adults. This explanation would lead to the prediction that increases in basal levels of cortisol should be positively correlated with increasing amygdala activation across age and pubertal development, particularly in the context of tasks that require processing of social information in ways that are likely to be qualitatively new to adolescents, like evaluating faces for mate potential.

Amygdala as an agent of change in adolescent neural networks

Thus far, we have reviewed evidence suggesting that distributed neural networks that are largely organized around the amygdala subserve behaviors that are emerging and are changing qualitatively in adolescence. We also presented evidence that the structural and functional properties of the amygdala and its patterns of functional connectivity are changing in adolescence. Together, this evidence is consistent with our hypothesis that the amygdala may be a central agent of change in the functional organization of neural networks that are becoming re-configured in adolescence in response to pubertal hormones and new adolescent-specific developmental tasks. Here, we provide a more specific model of this hypothesis.

First, we argue that pubertal hormones initiate the cascade of effects that ultimately enables the emergence of new behaviors and the functional reorganization of neural networks in the adolescent brain. The hormones alter amygdala function, particularly with respect to evaluating the salience and relevance of social stimuli that are relevant for the developmental task of forming romantic and sexual relationships with peers. As a result, the salience of some stimuli/social contexts is enhanced (e.g., peer faces), whereas the salience of other stimuli/social contexts is reduced (e.g., parental separation). In turn, these alterations in amygdala activation have widespread consequences for the functional organization of the many networks in which the amygdala participates. These effects would likely be reflected in modulations to the strength and/or directionality of the functional connections between the amygdala and other regions (dependent on the specific network of interest). Effectively, these changes in the patterns of functional connectivity essentially disrupt the existing functional relationships between regions that were established during the first 10 years of life, allowing for a re-organization (new patterns of connectivity) within these networks and, ultimately, the emergence of novel behaviors (e.g., evaluating peers for mate potential) that are rapidly developing during puberty.

Consistent with our previous work, this model is based on Dynamic Systems (DS) theories of developmental change (e.g., Smith, 2005; Smith and Thelen, 2003; Thelen and Smith, 1994; van Geert, 1994), which are particularly useful for explaining how novel outcomes emerge from a stable system. DS theories predict that new higher-order components of development (i.e., novel behaviors or qualitative changes in behavior) emerge through a process of *selforganization* in which recursive interactions (i.e., functional connections in our model) from simpler component systems (i.e., neural regions) spontaneously induce new developmental outcomes (i.e., network re-organization), particularly during periods of instability in the system when old patterns break down and new ones appear (Lewis, 2000) (e.g., as when individuals confront new developmental tasks).

This kind of self-organized learning has been modeled extensively with connectionist neural networks with the goal of learning about some of the mechanisms supporting these changes in self-organized learning. Connectionist models learn a set of weights on connections among neuron-like processing units. Overtime, learning and development occur through small, non-linear adjustments in the connection weights that support the generation of appropriate, context-sensitive, conditional expectations (see McClelland et al., 2010; Munakata and McClelland, 2003). Information processing in connectionist models is highly interactive, which, under many conditions, leads them to settle to *attractor states*, or low energy states in which the connection weights are very stable and resistant to change. These attractor states provide for fast, efficient, and accurate performance as long as the inputs/ environmental structure stay the same.

However, when the environmental structure changes (e.g., when presented with new task demands or new environmental structure), learning can only proceed once the attractor state is *disrupted*. This leads to a period of network instability until the connection weights are re-adjusted to accommodate the new inputs, which can lead to novel network outputs in response to the changing input structure. Herein, we propose that pubertal hormones modulate amygdala activation, which destabilizes the existing organization within neural networks in which the amygdala participates, particularly among networks that support behaviors relevant to the developmental tasks of adolescence (e.g., face processing, novelty-seeking, fear processing). This state of destabilization provides an opportunity for the relevant neural networks to be shaped by new environments and experiences and ultimately for the emergence of novel behaviors, like sensitivity to dominance in faces (as proposed by Scherf et al., 2012). Therefore, target networks that exhibit stable patterns of functional connections in childhood are likely to be characterized by increasingly inconsistent and highly variable functional connections as pubertal development progresses. The degree of network disruption across individuals might be related to temporary decrements in behavioral performance (as in the dip in face recognition performance during pubertal development). In contrast, the transition from late adolescence to early adulthood is likely to be characterized by increasing stability (i.e., reduced variability) and strengthening of the functional connections within target neural networks that may ultimately be organized (in terms of number, strength, consistency, directionality of connections within the network) quite differently from the corresponding networks in childhood.

Alternative models of adolescent brain development

Over the last 10 years, neuroimaging studies of normative adolescent brain development have largely converged on the notion that there is temporal asynchrony in the structural and functional development of two primary systems, the motivational limbic systems (especially the amygdala and the striatum) and prefrontal control regions (e.g., Casey et al., 2010; Steinberg, 2010). The central argument is that earlier structural and functional development of the ventral affective (limbic) systems in combination with a relative delay in the development of the prefrontal control systems leads to an imbalance between heightened reward seeking behaviors and underdeveloped cognitive control abilities (for review see Casey et al., 2011). In other words, the underlying assumption is that greater activation in the limbic motivational systems (particularly the ventral striatum) is detrimental to adaptive outcomes, particularly in adolescence (Pfeifer and Allen, 2012). At first glance, this notion could appear to be at odds with the hypothesized adaptive influence of the amygdala in restructuring adolescent neural networks being proposed in this paper. However, it is important to remember that there are extensive connections between the amygdala and ventral striatum and the amygdala and medial PFC that could provide a means by which changes in amygdala activation could modify both striatal and medial PFC responses. For example, increased activation in the amygdala in response to highly relevant/salient stimuli (e.g., peers for adolescents) might invoke strong ventral striatal responses to these same stimuli, which could enhance the reward value and motivate approachrelated behavior toward the stimuli. This positive association between amygdala and striatal responses to highly relevant stimuli might help explain why the mere presence of peers increases activation in the ventral striatum during reward processing (Fareri et al., 2012) and in particular in adolescents performing a decision-making task (Chein et al., 2011). In fact, these hypotheses are consistent with the Triadic Model of adolescent brain development (Ernst and Fudge, 2009), which proposes that goal-directed behavior is governed by a careful integration and balance among approach (striatum) and avoidance

(amygdala) systems that is executed by regulatory (medial prefrontal cortex) neural systems.

Conclusions: amygdala as the agent of change in cortical reorganization

To summarize our argument, we suggest that a central feature of adolescence involves a fundamental re-evaluation of the relevance and salience of existing stimuli, and particularly social stimuli, which is largely computed by the amygdala. We have reviewed evidence to suggest that the amygdala grows in volume and changes in activation to socially relevant stimuli and contexts during adolescence. We suggest that this reflects the role of the amygdala in re-evaluating the relevance of social stimuli, particular for the context of the social developmental tasks during adolescence. Given its broad connectivity with the cortex and other subcortical structures, we argue that these changes in the functional profile of the amygdala likely induce an extensive functional re-organization (e.g., change in functional connectivity) among existing neural circuits, which ultimately influences the ability to master adolescent-specific developmental tasks. Additionally, we argue that pubertal hormones are likely to be influential in initiating the motivation to re-evaluate these stimuli, given the presence of androgen and estrogen receptors in the amygdala. As a result, we suggest that the amygdala may be an important agent of change in the functional organization of neural networks, particularly those that process social information, and structure-function-behavior correspondences that specifically enable adolescents to master their unique challenges and developmental tasks.

A strong empirical evaluation of our hypotheses will require large-scale cross-sectional and longitudinal studies of multiple aspects of behavior that is mediated by the amygdala from childhood through early adulthood. Much of the evidence we have presented is not specifically designed to address the core hypotheses that we propose here. As a result, we encourage future work on adolescent brain development that specifically focuses on evaluating particular task constraints under which amygdala activation changes (increases or decreases) disproportionately in adolescents compared to both children and adults. For example, we suggest that it will be critical to compare potential differences in amygdala activation in the context of experimental tasks that are highly relevant to the developmental tasks of adolescents (e.g., tasks involving social evaluation of/from peers) versus those that are not (e.g., tasks involving social evaluation of/from pre-pubescent children). Future studies investigating amygdalamediated behaviors that change in adolescence should also include measures of pubertal status via Tanner staging and/or hormonal assay to evaluate whether and how the onset of gonadal hormones fundamentally influences reorganization in the dynamics of widelydistributed cortical networks and brain-behavior relations that are specific to adolescence.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported, in part, by grants from the Pennsylvania Department of Health SAP grant 4100047862 to K. S. Scherf (Co-PI, Marlene Behrman and Nancy Minshew, Co-PIs) and from the National Institute on Drug Abuse to M. R. Delgado (DA0277764).

References

- Adam, E.K., 2006. Transactions among adolescent trait and state emotion and diurnal and momentary cortisol activity in naturalistic settings. Psychoneuroendocrinology 31 (5), 664–679.
- Adolphs, R., 2008. Fear, faces, and the human amygdala. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 18 (2), 166–172.
- Adolphs, R., 2010. What does the amygdala contribute to social cognition? Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1191, 42–61.

- Aylward, E.H., Park, J.E., Field, K.M., Parsons, A.C., Richards, T.L., Cramer, S.C., Meltzoff, A.N., 2005. Brain activation during face perception: evidence of a developmental change. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 17 (2), 308–319.
- Baird, A.A., Gruber, S.A., Fein, D.A., Maas, L.C., Steingard, R.J., Renshaw, P.F., Cohen, B.M., Yurgelun-Todd, D.A., 1999. Functional magnetic resonance imaging of facial affect recognition in children and adolescents. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 38 (2), 195–199.
- Ball, T., Derix, J., Wentlandt, J., Wieckhorst, B., Speck, O., Schulze-Bonhage, A., Mutschler, I., 2009. Anatomical specificity of functional amygdala imaging of responses to stimuli with positive and negative emotional valence. J. Neurosci. Meth. 180 (1), 57–70.
- Bechara, A., Nader, K., Van Der Kooey, D., 1995. Neurobiology of withdrawal motivation: evidence for two separate aversive effects produced in morphine-naive versus morphine-dependent rats by both naloxone and spontaneous withdrawal. Behav. Neurosci. 109 (1), 91–105.
- Bickart, K.C., Hollenbeck, M.C., Barrett, L.F., Dickerson, B.C., 2012. Intrinsic amygdalacortical functional connectivity predicts social network size in humans. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 32 (42), 14729–14741.
- Blanton, R.E., Cooney, R.E., Joormann, J., Eugène, F., Glover, G.H., Gotlib, I.H., 2012. Pubertal stage and brain anatomy in girls. Neuroscience 217, 105–112.
- Bos, P.A., Van Honk, J., Ramsey, N.F., Stein, D.J., Hermans, E.J., 2012. Testosterone administration in women increases amygdala responses to fearful and happy faces. Psychoneuroendocrinology 38 (6), 808–817.
- Bramen, J., Hranilovich, J., Dahl, R., Forbes, E., Chen, J., Toga, A., Dinov, I., Worthman, C., Sowell, E., 2011. Puberty influences medial temporal lobe and cortical gray matter maturation differently in boys than girls matched for sexual maturity. Cereb. Cortex 21, 636–646.
- Brown, B.B., 2004. Adolescents' relationships with peers, In: Lerner, R.M., Steinberg, L.
- (Eds.), Handbook of Adolescent Psychology, 2nd ed. Wiley, Hoboken, NJ, pp. 363–394.Brown, J.R., Dunn, J., 1996. Continuities in emotion understanding from three to six years. Child Dev. 67, 789–802.
- Burghy, C.A., Stodola, D.E., Ruttle, P.L., Molloy, E.K., Armstrong, J.M., Oler, J.A., Fox, M.E., Hayes, A.S., Kalin, N.H., Essex, M.J., Davidson, R.J., Birn, R.M., 2012. Developmental pathways to amygdala–prefrontal function and internalizing symptoms in adolescence. Nat. Neurosci. 15 (12), 1736–1741.
- Camaras, L.A., Allison, K., 1985. Children's understanding of emotional facial expressions and verbal labels. J. Nonverbal Behav. 9, 84–94.
- Capaldi, D., Dishion, T., Stoolmiller, M., Yoerger, K., 2001. Aggression toward female partners by at-risk young men: the contribution of male adolescent friendships. Dev. Psychol. 37 (1), 61–67.
- Carey, S., Diamond, R., 1977. From piecemeal to configurational representation of faces. Science 195 (4275), 312–314.
- Carey, S., Diamond, R., Woods, B., 1980. Development of face recognition: a maturational component? Dev. Psychol. 16 (4), 257–269.
- Casey, B., Duhoux, S., Cohen, M.M., 2010. Adolescence: what do transmission, transition, and translation have to do with it? Neuron 67 (5), 749–760.
- Casey, B., Jones, R.M., Somerville, L.H., 2011. Braking and accelerating of the adolescent brain. J. Res. Adolesc. 21 (1), 21–33.
- Chein, J., Albert, D., Obrien, L., Uckert, K., Steinberg, L., 2011. Peers increase adolescent risk taking by enhancing activity in the brains reward circuitry. Dev. Sci. 14 (2), F1–F10.
- Clark, A.S., Maclusky, N.J., Goldman-Rakic, P.S., 1988. Androgen binding and metabolism in the cerebral cortex of the developing rhesus monkey. Endocrinology 123 (2), 932–940.
- Cohen Kadosh, K., Cohen Kadosh, R., Dick, F., Johnson, M.H., 2011. Developmental changes in effective connectivity in the emerging core face network. Cereb. Cortex 21 (6), 1389–1394.
- Crone, E.A., Dahl, R.E., 2012. Understanding adolescence as a period of social-affective engagement and goal flexibility. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 13 (9), 636–650.
- Crookes, K., Mckone, E., 2009. Early maturity of face recognition: no childhood development of holistic processing, novel face encoding, or face-space. Cognition 111 (2), 219–247.
- Dahl, R.E., 2004. Adolescent brain development: a period of vulnerabilities and opportunities. Keynote address. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1021, 1–22.
- Davis, M., 1992. The role of the amygdala in fear and anxiety. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 15 (1), 353–375.
- Deeley, Q., Daly, E.M., Azuma, R., Surguladze, S., Giampietro, V., Brammer, M.J., Murphy, D.G., 2008. Changes in male brain responses to emotional faces from adolescence to middle age. NeuroImage 40 (1), 389–397.
- Delgado, M.R., Nearing, K.I., Ledoux, J.E., Phelps, E.A., 2008. Neural circuitry underlying the regulation of conditioned fear and its relation to extinction. Neuron 59 (5), 829–838.
- Delgado, M.R., Jou, R.L., Ledoux, J.E., Phelps, E.A., 2009. Avoiding negative outcomes: tracking the mechanisms of avoidance learning in humans during fear conditioning. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 3, 33.
- Delgado, M.R., Jou, R.L., Phelps, E.A., 2011. Neural systems underlying aversive conditioning in humans with primary and secondary reinforcers. Front. Neurosci. 5, 71.
- Diamond, R., Carey, S., 1977. Developmental changes in the representation of faces. J. Exp. Child Psychol. 23 (1), 1–22.
- Diamond, R., Carey, S., Back, K., 1983. Genetic influences on the development of spatial skills during early adolescence. Cognition 13 (2), 167–185.
 Dickerson, S.S., 2008. Emotional and physiological responses to social-evaluative
- Dickerson, S.S., 2008. Emotional and physiological responses to social-evaluative threat. Soc. Personal. Psychol. Compass 2 (3), 1362–1368.
- Dickerson, S.S., Kemeny, M.E., 2004. Acute stressors and cortisol responses: a theoretical integration and synthesis of laboratory research. Psychol. Bull. 130 (3), 355–391.

- Durand, K., Gallay, M., Seigneuric, A., Robichon, F., Baudouin, J.Y., 2007. The development of facial emotion recognition: the role of configural information. J. Exp. Child Psychol. 97 (1), 14–27.
- Eccles, J.S., Midgley, C., Wigfield, A., Buchanan, C.M., Reuman, D., Flanagan, C., Iver, D.M., 1993. Development during adolescence. The impact of stage-environment fit on young adolescents' experiences in schools and in families. Am. Psychol. 48 (2), 90–101.
- Elmlinger, M.W., Kühnel, W., Ranke, M.B., 2002. Reference ranges for serum concentrations of lutropin (LH), follitropin (FSH), estradiol (E2), prolactin, progesterone, sex hormone-binding globulin (SHBG), dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate (DHEAS), cortisol and ferritin in neonates, children and young adults. Clin. Chem. Lab. Med. 40 (11), 1151–1160.
- Emery, N.J., Capitanio, J.P., Mason, W.A., Machado, C.J., Mendoza, S.P., Amaral, D.G., 2001. The effects of bilateral lesions of the amygdala on dyadic social interactions in rhesus monkeys. Behav. Neurosci. 115, 515–544.
- Ernst, M., Fudge, J.L. 2009. A developmental neurobiological model of motivated behavior: anatomy, connectivity and ontogeny of the triadic nodes. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 33 (3), 367–382.
- Ernst, M., Daniele, T., Frantz, K., 2011. New perspectives on adolescent motivated behavior: attention and conditioning. Dev. Cogn. Neurosci. 1 (4), 377–389.
- Fareri, D.S., Martin, L.N., Delgado, M.R., 2008. Reward-related processing in the human brain: developmental considerations. Dev. Psychopathol. 20 (4), 1191–1211.
- Fareri, D.S., Niznikiewicz, M.A., Lee, V.K., Delgado, M.R., 2012. Social network modulation of reward-related signals. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 32 (26), 9045–9052.
- Farroni, T., Johnson, M.H., Menon, E., Zulian, L., Faraguna, D., Csibra, G., 2005. Newborns' preference for face-relevant stimuli: effects of contrast polarity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102 (47), 17245–17250.
- Flin, R.H., 1980. Age effects in children's memory for unfamiliar faces. Dev. Psychol. 16 (4), 373–374.
- Forbes, E.E., Phillips, M.L., Silk, J.S., Ryan, N.D., Dahl, R.E., 2011. Neural systems of threat processing in adolescents: role of pubertal maturation and relation to measures of negative affect. Dev. Neuropsychol. 36 (4), 429–452.
- Galvan, A., 2010. Adolescent development of the reward system. Front. Hum. Neurosci. 4, 6.
- Gathers, A.D., Bhatt, R., Corbly, C.R., Farley, A.B., Joseph, J.E., 2004. Developmental shifts in cortical loci for face and object recognition. Neuroreport 15 (10), 1549–1553.
- Gee, D.G., Humphreys, K.L., Flannery, J., Goff, B., Telzer, E.H., Shapiro, M., Hare, T.A., Bookheimer, S.Y., Tottenham, N., 2013. A developmental shift from positive to negative connectivity in human amygdala–prefrontal circuitry. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 33 (10), 4584–4593.
- Germine, L.T., Duchaine, B., Nakayama, K., 2011. Where cognitive development and aging meet: face learning ability peaks after age 30. Cognition 118 (2), 201–210.
- Giedd, J.N., Vaituzis, A.C., Hamburger, S.D., Lange, N., Rajapakse, J.C., Kaysen, D., Vauss, Y.C., Rapoport, J.L., 1996. Quantitative MRI of the temporal lobe, amygdala, and hippocampus in normal human development: ages 4–18 years. J. Comp. Neurol. 366 (2), 223–230.
- Gobbini, M., Haxby, J., 2007. Neural systems for recognition of familiar faces. Neuropsychologia 45 (1), 32–41.
- Gogtay, N., Ciedd, J.N., Lusk, L., Hayashi, K.M., Greenstein, D., Vaituzis, A.C., Nugent, T.F., Herman, D.H., Clasen, L.S., Toga, A.W., Rapoport, J.L., Thompson, P.M., 2004. Dynamic mapping of human cortical development during childhood through early adulthood. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 101 (21), 8174–8179.
- Golarai, G., Ghahremani, D.G., Whitfield-Gabrieli, S., Reiss, A., Eberhardt, J.L., Gabrieli, J.D., Grill-Spector, K., 2007. Differential development of high-level visual cortex correlates with category-specific recognition memory. Nat. Neurosci. 10 (4), 512–522.
- Golarai, G., Liberman, A., Yoon, J.M., Grill-Spector, K., 2010. Differential development of the ventral visual cortex extends through adolescence. Front. Hum. Neurosci. 3, 80.
- Greimel, E., Nehrkorn, B., Schulte-Rüther, M., Fink, G.R., Nickl-Jockschat, T., Herpertz-Dahlmann, B., Konrad, K., Eickhoff, S.B., 2012. Changes in grey matter development in autism spectrum disorder. Brain Struct. Funct. 217 (3), 69–85.
- Gunnar, M.R., Wewerka, S., Frenn, K., Long, J.D., Griggs, C., 2009a. Developmental changes in hypothalamus–pituitary–adrenal activity over the transition to adolescence: normative changes and associations with puberty. Dev. Psychopathol. 21 (1), 69–85.
- Gunnar, M.R., Talge, N.M., Herrera, A., 2009b. Stressor paradigms in developmental studies: what does and does not work to produce mean increases in salivary cortisol. Psychoneuroendocrinology 34 (7), 953–967.
- Guo, X., Chen, C., Chen, K., Jin, Z., Peng, D., Yao, L., 2007. Brain development in Chinese children and adolescents: a structural MRI study. Neuroreport 18 (9), 875–880.
- Guyer, A.E., Nelson, E.E., Perez-Edgar, K., Hardin, M.G., Roberson-Nay, R., Monk, C.S., Bjork, J.M., Henderson, H.A., Pine, D.S., Fox, N.A., Ernst, M., 2006. Striatal functional alteration in adolescents characterized by early childhood behavioral inhibition. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 26 (24), 6399–6405.
- Guyer, A.E., Monk, C.S., McClure-Tone, E.B., Nelson, E.E., Roberson-Nay, R., Adler, A.D., Fromm, S.J., Leibenluft, E., Pine, D.S., Ernst, M., 2008. A developmental examination of amygdala response to facial expressions. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 20 (9), 1565–1582.
- Hare, T.A., Tottenham, N., Davidson, M.C., Glover, G.H., Casey, B.J., 2005. Contributions of amygdala and striatal activity in emotion regulation. Biol. Psychiatry 57 (6), 624–632.
- Hare, T.A., Tottenham, N., Galvan, A., Voss, H.U., Glover, G.H., Casey, B.J., 2008. Biological substrates of emotional reactivity and regulation in adolescence during an emotional go-nogo task. Biol. Psychiatry 63 (10), 927–934.
- Herba, C., Phillips, M., 2004. Annotation: development of facial expression recognition from childhood to adolescence: behavioural and neurological perspectives. J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry 45 (7), 1185–1198.

- Herba, C.M., Landau, S., Russell, T., Ecker, C., Phillips, M.L., 2006. The development of emotion-processing in children: effects of age, emotion, and intensity. J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry 47 (11), 1098–1106.
- Herman, J.P., Figueiredo, H., Mueller, N.K., Ulrich-Lai, Y., Ostrander, M.M., Choi, D.C., Cullinan, W.E., 2003. Central mechanisms of stress integration: hierarchical circuitry controlling hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenocortical responsiveness. Front. Neuroendocrinol. 24 (3), 151–180.
- Herry, C., Bach, D.R., Esposito, F., Di Salle, F., Perrig, W.J., Scheffler, K., Lüthi, A., Seifritz, E., 2007. Processing of temporal unpredictability in human and animal amygdala. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 27 (22), 5958–5966.
- Hu, S., Pruessner, J.C., Coupé, P., Collins, D.L., 2013. Volumetric analysis of medial temporal lobe structures in brain development from childhood to adolescence. NeuroImage 74C, 276–287.
- Humphrey, T., 1968. The development of the human amygdala during early embryonic life. J. Comp. Neurol. 132 (1), 135–165.
- Joseph, J.E., Gathers, A.D., Bhatt, R.S., 2011. Progressive and regressive developmental changes in neural substrates for face processing: testing specific predictions of the interactive specialization account. Dev. Sci. 14 (2), 227–241.
- Joseph, J.E., Swearingen, J.E., Clark, J.D., Benca, C.E., Collins, H.R., Corbly, C.R., Gathers, A.D., Bhatt, R.S., 2012. The changing landscape of functional brain networks for face processing in typical development. NeuroImage 63 (3), 1223–1236.
- Killcross, S., Robbins, T.W., Everitt, B.J., 1997. Nature 388 (6640), 377-380.
- Kluver, H., Bucy, P.C., 1937. "Psychic Dlindness" and other symptoms following bilateral temporal lobectomy in rhesus monkeys. Am. J. Physiol. 119, 352–353.
- Kluver, H., Bucy, P.C., 1939. Preliminary analysis of functions of the temporal lobes in monkeys. Arch. Neurol. Psychiatry 42, 979–997.
- Labar, K.S., Ledoux, J.E., Spencer, D.D., Phelps, E.A., 1995. Impaired fear conditioning following unilateral temporal lobectomy in humans. J. Neurosci. 15 (10), 6846–6855.
- Labar, K.S., Gatenby, J.C., Gore, J.C., Ledoux, J.E., Phelps, E.A., 1998. Human amygdala activation during conditioned fear acquisition and extinction: a mixed-trial fMRI study. Neuron 20, 937–945.
- Lau, J.Y., Lissek, S., Nelson, E.E., Lee, Y., Roberson-Nay, R., Poeth, K., Jenness, J., Ernst, M., Grillon, C., Pine, D.S., 2008. Fear conditioning in adolescents with anxiety disorders: results from a novel experimental paradigm. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 47 (1), 94–102.
- Lau, J.Y., Britton, J.C., Nelson, E.E., Angold, A., Ernst, M., Goldwin, M., Grillion, C., Leibenluft, E., Lissek, S., Norcross, M., Shiffrin, N., Pine, D.S., 2011. Distinct neural signatures of threat learning in adolescents and adults. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 108 (11), 4500–4505.
- Lawrence, K., Bernstein, D., Pearson, R., Mandy, W., Campbell, R., Skuse, D., 2008. Changing abilities in recognition of unfamiliar face photographs through childhood and adolescence: performance on a test of non-verbal immediate memory (Warrington RMF) from 6 to 16 years. J. Neuropsychol. 2 (Pt 1), 27–45.

Ledoux, J.E., 2000. Emotion circuits in the brain. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 23 (1), 155–184. Ledoux, J., 2007. The amygdala. Curr. Biol. 17 (20), R868–R874.

- Ledoux, J.E., Gorman, J.M., 2001. A call to action: overcoming anxiety through active coping. Am. J. Psychiatry 158 (12), 1953–1955.
- Lewis, M., 2000. The promise of dynamic systems approaches for an integrated account of human development. Child Dev. 71 (1), 36–43.
- Luna, B., 2009. Developmental changes in cognitive control through adolescence. Adv. Child Dev. Behav. 37, 233–278.
- Malter Cohen, M., Tottenham, N., Casey, B.J., 2013. Translational developmental studies of stress on brain and behavior: Implications for adolescent mental health and illness? Neuroscience.
- Maren, S., 2001. Neurobiology of Pavlovian fear conditioning. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 24, 897–931.
- McClelland, J., Botvinick, M., Noelle, D., Plaut, D., Rogers, T., Seidenberg, M., Smith, L., 2010. Letting structure emerge: connectionist and dynamical systems approaches to cognition. Trends Cogn. Sci. 14 (8), 348–356.
- McEwen, B.S., Akama, K.T., Spencer-Segal, J.L., Milner, T.A., Waters, E.M., 2012. Estrogen effects on the brain: actions beyond the hypothalamus via novel mechanisms. Behav. Neurosci. 126 (1), 4–16.
- Mcgivern, R.F., Andersen, J., Byrd, D., Mutter, K.L., Reilly, J., 2002. Cognitive efficiency on a match to sample task decreases at the onset of puberty in children. Brain Cogn. 50 (1), 73–89.
- Merke, D.P., Fields, J.D., Keil, M.F., Vaituzis, A.C., Chrousos, G.P., Giedd, J.N., 2003. Children with classic congenital adrenal hyperplasia have decreased amygdala volume: potential prenatal and postnatal hormonal effects. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 88 (4), 1760–1765.
- Milad, M.R., Wright, C.I., Orr, S.P., Pitman, R.K., Quirk, G.J., Rauch, S.L., 2007. Recall of fear extinction in humans activates the ventromedial prefrontal cortex and hippocampus in concert. Biol. Psychiatry 62 (5), 446–454.
- Mishra, A., Rogers, B.P., Chen, L.M., Gore, J.C., 2013. Functional connectivity-based parcellation of amygdala using self-organized mapping: a data driven approach. Hum. Brain Mapp. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/hbm.22249 (Epub ahead of print).
- Mondloch, C., Dobson, K., Parsons, J., Maurer, D., 2004. Why 8-year-olds cannot tell the difference between Steve Martin and Paul Newman: factors contributing to the slow development of sensitivity to the spacing of facial features. J. Exp. Child Psychol. 89 (2), 159–181.
- Monk, C.S., McClure, E.B., Nelson, E.E., Zarahn, E., Bilder, R.M., Leibenluft, E., Charney, D.S., Ernst, M., Pine, D.S., 2003. Adolescent immaturity in attentionrelated brain engagement to emotional facial expressions. NeuroImage 20 (1), 420–428.
- Moore, W.E., Pfeifer, J.H., Masten, C.L., Mazziotta, J.C., Iacoboni, M., Dapretto, M., 2012. Facing puberty: associations between pubertal development and neural responses to affective facial displays. Soc. Cogn. Affect. Neurosci. 7 (1), 35–43.

- Morris, S., Öhman, A., Dolan, J., 1998. Conscious and unconscious emotional learning in the human amygdala. Nature 393 (6684), 467–470.
- Munakata, Y., McClelland, J.L, 2003. Connectionist models of development. Dev. Sci. 6 (4), 413–429.
- Murray, E.A., 2007. The amygdala, reward and emotion. Trends Cogn. Sci. 11 (11), 489-497.
- Nadler, N., Delgado, M.R., Delamater, A.R., 2011. Pavlovian to instrumental transfer of control in a human learning task. Emotion 11 (5), 1112–1123.
- Nelson, E.E., McClure, E.B., Monk, C.S., Zarahn, E., Leibenluft, E., Pine, D.S., Ernst, M., 2003. Developmental differences in neuronal engagement during implicit encoding of emotional faces: an event-related fMRI study. J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry 44 (7), 1015–1024.
- Nelson, E.E., Leibenluft, E., McClure, E., Pine, D.S., 2005. The social re-orientation of adolescence: a neuroscience perspective on the process and its relation to psychopathology. Psychol. Med. 35 (2), 163–174.
- Netherton, C., Goodyer, I., Tamplin, A., Herbert, J., 2004. Salivary cortisol and dehydroepiandrosterone in relation to puberty and gender. Psychoneuroendocrinology 29 (2), 125–140.
- Neufang, S., Specht, K., Hausmann, M., Gunturkun, O., Herpertz-Dahlmann, B., Fink, G., Konrad, K., 2009. Sex differences and the impact of steroid hormones on the developing human brain. Cereb. Cortex 19 (2), 464–473.
- Niznikiewicz, M.A., Delgado, M.R., 2011. Two sides of the same coin: learning via positive and negative reinforcers in the human striatum. Dev. Cogn. Neurosci. 1 (4), 494–505.
- O'Hearn, K., Schroer, E., Minshew, N., Luna, B., 2010. Lack of developmental improvement on a face memory task during adolescence in autism. Neuropsychologia 48 (13), 3955–3960.
- Ostby, Y., Tamnes, C.K., Fjell, A.M., Westlye, L.T., Due-Tønnessen, P., Walhovd, K.B., 2009. Heterogeneity in subcortical brain development: a structural magnetic resonance imaging study of brain maturation from 8 to 30 years. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 29 (38), 11772–11782.
- Österlund, M.K., Keller, E., Hurd, Y.L., 1999. The human forebrain has discrete estrogen receptor messenger RNA expression: high levels in the amygdaloid complex. Neuroscience 95 (2), 333–342.
- Passarotti, A.M., Paul, B.M., Bussiere, J.R., Buxton, R.B., Wong, E.C., Stiles, J., 2003. The development of face and location processing: an fMRI study. Dev. Sci. 6 (1), 100–117.
- Passarotti, A.M., Smith, J., Delano, M., Huang, J., 2007. Developmental differences in the neural bases of the face inversion effect show progressive tuning of face-selective regions to the upright orientation. NeuroImage 34 (4), 1708–1722.
- Pattwell, S.S., Bath, K.G., Casey, B.J., Ninan, I., Lee, F.S., 2011. Selective early-acquired fear memories undergo temporary suppression during adolescence. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 108 (3), 1182–1187.
- Pattwell, S.S., Duhoux, S., Hartley, C.A., Johnson, D.C., Jing, D., Elliott, M.D., Ruberry, E.J., Powers, A., Mehta, N., Yang, R.R., Soliman, F., Glatt, C.E., Casey, B.J., Ninan, I., Lee, F.S., 2012. Altered fear learning across development in both mouse and human. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 109 (40), 16318–16323.
- Pavlov, I.P., Anrep, G.V., 1927. Conditioned Reflexes. Courier Dover Publications.
- Peelen, M.V., Glaser, B., Vuilleumier, P., Eliez, S., 2009. Differential development of selectivity for faces and bodies in the fusiform gyrus. Dev. Sci. 12 (6), F16–F25.
- Perlman, S.B., Pelphrey, K.A., 2011. Developing connections for affective regulation: age-related changes in emotional brain connectivity. J. Exp. Child Psychol. 108 (3), 607–620.
- Perlman, W.R., Webster, M.J., Kleinman, J.E., Weickert, C.S., 2004. Reduced glucocorticoid and estrogen receptor alpha messenger ribonucleic acid levels in the amygdala of patients with major mental illness. Biol. Psychiatry 56 (11), 844–852.
- Pessoa, L., 2008. On the relationship between emotion and cognition. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 9 (2), 148–158.
- Pessoa, L., Adolphs, R., 2010. Emotion processing and the amygdala: from a 'low road' to 'many roads' of evaluating biological significance. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 11 (11), 773–783.
- Pfeifer, J.H., Allen, N.B., 2012. Arrested development? Reconsidering dual-systems models of brain function in adolescence and disorders. Trends Cogn. Sci. 16 (6), 322–329.
- Pfeifer, J.H., Masten, C.L., Moore, W.E., Oswald, T.M., Mazziotta, J.C., Iacoboni, M., Dapretto, M., 2011. Entering adolescence: resistance to peer influence, risky behavior, and neural changes in emotion reactivity. Neuron 69 (5), 1029–1036.
- Phelps, E.A., Ledoux, J.E., 2005. Contributions of the amygdala to emotion processing: from animal models to human behavior. Neuron 48 (2), 175–187.
- Phelps, E.A., Delgado, M.R., Nearing, K.I., Ledoux, J.E., 2004. Extinction learning in humans: role of the amygdala and vmPFC. Neuron 43 (6), 897–905.
- Pine, D.S., Grun, J., Zarahn, E., Fyer, A., Koda, V., Li, W., Bilder, R.M., 2001. Cortical brain regions engaged by masked emotional faces in adolescents and adults: an fMRI study. Emotion 1 (2), 137.
- Pine, D.S., Lissek, S., Klein, R.G., Mannuzza, S., Moulton, J.L., Guardino, M., Woldehawariat, G., 2004. Face-memory and emotion: associations with major depression in children and adolescents, J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry 45 (7), 1199–1208.
- Prewitt, C.M.F., Herman, J.P., 1997. Hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenocortical regulation following lesions of the central nucleus of the amygdala. Stress 1 (4), 263–279.
- Qin, S., Young, C.B., Supekar, K., Uddin, L.Q., Menon, V., 2012. Immature integration and segregation of emotion-related brain circuitry in young children. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 109 (20), 7941–7946.
- Rangel, A., Colin, C., Montague, P.R., 2008. A framework for studying the neurobiology of value-based decision making. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 9 (7), 545–556.
- Romeo, R.D., 2005. Neuroendocrine and behavioral development during puberty: a tale of two axes. Vitam. Horm. 71, 1–25.

- Romeo, R.D., 2010a. Adolescence: a central event in shaping stress reactivity. Dev. Psychobiol. 52 (3), 244–253.
- Romeo, R.D., 2010b. Pubertal maturation and programming of hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal reactivity. Front. Neuroendocrinol. 31 (2), 232–240.
- Romeo, R.D., Karatsoreos, I.N., McEwen, B.S., 2006. Pubertal maturation and time of day differentially affect behavioral and neuroendocrine responses following an acute stressor. Horm. Behav. 50 (3), 463–468.
- Roselli, C.E., Klosterman, S., Resko, J.A., 2001. Anatomic relationships between aromatase and androgen receptor mRNA expression in the hypothalamus and amygdala of adult male cynomolgus monkeys. J. Comp. Neurol. 439 (2), 208–223.
- Rubinow, D.R., Schmidt, P.J., 1996. Androgens, brain, and behavior. Am. J. Psychiatry 153 (8), 974–984.
- Scherf, K.S., Behrmann, M., Humphreys, K., Luna, B., 2007. Visual category-selectivity for faces, places and objects emerges along different developmental trajectories. Dev. Sci. 10 (4), F15–F30.
- Scherf, K.S., Behrmann, M., Dahl, R.E., 2012. Facing changes and changing faces in adolescence: investigating the neural basis of key developmental shifts in social information processing. Dev. Cogn. Neurosci. 2 (2), 199–219.
- Schlund, M.W., Cataldo, M.F., 2010. Amygdala involvement in human avoidance, escape and approach behavior. NeuroImage 53 (2), 769–776.
- Schumann, C.M., Amaral, D.G., 2005. Stereological estimation of the number of neurons in the human amygdaloid complex. J. Comp. Neurol. 491 (4), 320–329.
- Schwabe, L., Haddad, L., Schachinger, H., 2008. HPA axis activation by a socially evaluated cold-pressor test. Psychoneuroendocrinology 33 (6), 890–895.
- Shen, H., Sabaliauskas, N., Sherpa, A., Fenton, A.A., Stelzer, A., Aoki, C., Smith, S.S., 2010. A critical role for alpha4betadelta GABAA receptors in shaping learning deficits at puberty in mice. Science (New York, N.Y.) 327 (5972), 1515–1518.
- Smith, L.B., 2005. Self-organizing processes in learning to learn words: development is not induction. In: Nelson, C.A. (Ed.), New Perspectives on Learning and Development: Minnesota Symposium on Child Psychology, 28. Academic Press, New York, pp. 1–32.
- Smith, L., Thelen, E., 2003. Development as a dynamic system. Trends Cogn. Sci. 7 (8), 343–348.
- Somerville, L.H., Casey, B.J., 2010. Developmental neurobiology of cognitive control and motivational systems. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 20 (2), 236–241.
- Spear, L.P., 2000. The adolescent brain and age-related behavioral manifestations. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 24 (4), 417–463.
- Spear, L.P., 2009. Heightened stress responsivity and emotional reactivity during pubertal maturation: implications for psychopathology. Dev. Psychopathol. 21 (1), 87–97.
- Spear, LP., Brake, S.C., 1983. Periadolescence: age-dependent behavior and psychopharmacological responsivity in rats. Dev. Psychobiol. 16 (2), 83–109.
- Steinberg, L., 2008. A social neuroscience perspective on adolescent risk-taking. Dev. Rev. 28 (1), 78–106.
- Steinberg, L. 2010. A dual systems model of adolescent risk-taking. Dev. Psychobiol. 52 (3), 216–224.
- Steinberg, L., Morris, A.S., 2001. Adolescent development. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 52, 83–110.
- Stroud, L.R., Foster, E., Papandonatos, G.D., Handwerger, K., Granger, D.A., Kivlighan, K.T., Niaura, R., 2009. Stress response and the adolescent transition: performance versus peer rejection stressors. Dev. Psychopathol. 21 (1), 47–68.
- Sumter, S.R., Bokhorst, C.L., Miers, A.C., Van Pelt, J., Westenberg, P.M., 2010. Age and puberty differences in stress responses during a public speaking task: do adolescents grow more sensitive to social evaluation? Psychoneuroendocrinology 35 (10), 1510–1516.
- Swanson, L.W., 2006. The amygdala and its place in the cerebral hemisphere. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 985 (1), 174–184.
- Thelen, E., Smith, L.B., 1994. A Dynamic Systems Approach to the Development of Cognition and Action. Bradford/MIT Press, Cambridge, MA.
- Thomas, L.A., De Bellis, M.D., Graham, R., Labar, K.S., 2007. Development of emotional facial recognition in late childhood and adolescence. Dev. Sci. 10 (5), 547–558.
- Todorov, A., Gobbini, M., Evans, K., Haxby, J., 2007. Spontaneous retrieval of affective person knowledge in face perception. Neuropsychologia 45 (1), 163–173.
- Todorov, A., Mende-Siedlecki, P., Dotsch, R., 2013. Social judgments from faces. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 23.
- Tottenham, N., H.T., Hare, T.A., Casey, B.J., 2009. A developmental perspective on human amygdala function. In: Whalen, P.J., Phelps, E.A. (Eds.), The Human Amygdala. Guilford Press, New York, pp. 107–117.
- Uematsu, A., Matsui, M., Tanaka, C., Takahashi, T., Noguchi, K., Suzuki, M., Nishijo, H., 2012. Developmental trajectories of amygdala and hippocampus from infancy to early adulthood in healthy individuals. PLoS One 7 (10), 1–10.
- Ulfig, N., Bohl, J., Setzer, M., 2003. Expression of NMDAR1 in the human fetal amygdala and the adjacent ganglionic eminence. Neuroembryology and Aging 2 (1), 40–42.
- Urry, H.L., Van Reekum, C.M., Johnstone, T., Kalin, N.H., Thurow, M.E., Schaefer, H.S., Jackson, C.A., Frye, C.J., Grieschar, L.L., Alexander, A.L., Davidson, R.J., 2006. Amygdala and ventromedial prefrontal cortex are inversely coupled during regulation of negative affect and predict the diurnal pattern of cortisol secretion among older adults. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 26 (16), 4415–4425.
- Van Geert, P., 1994. Dynamic Systems of Development: Change Between Complexity and Chaos. Prentice Hall/Harvester Wheatsheaf, New York.
- Van Wingen, G.A., Zylicz, S.A., Pieters, S., Mattern, C., Verkes, R.J., Buitelaar, J.K., Fernández, G., 2009. Testosterone increases amygdala reactivity in middle-aged women to a young adulthood level. Neuropsychopharmacology 34 (3), 539–547.
- Vasa, R.A., Pine, D.S., Thorn, J.M., Nelson, T.E., Spinelli, S., Nelson, E., Maheu, F.S., Ernst, M., Bruck, M., Mostofsky, S.H., 2011. Enhanced right amygdala activity in

adolescents during encoding of positively valenced pictures. Dev. Cogn. Neurosci. 1 (1), 88–99.

- (1), 88–99.
 Volman, I., Toni, I., Verhagen, L., Roelofs, K., 2011. Endogenous testosterone modulates prefrontal-amygdala connectivity during social emotional behavior. Cereb. Cortex 21 (10), 2282–2290.
 Whalen, P.J., 2007. The uncertainty of it all. Trends Cogn. Sci. 11 (12), 499–500.
 Whalen, P.J., Rauch, S.L., Etcoff, N.L., Mcinerney, S.C., Lee, M.B., Jenike, M.A., 1998. Masked presentations of emotional facial expressions modulate amygdala activity

without explicit knowledge. Neuroscience J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 18 (1), 411-418.

- Young, WLP., Scannell, J.W., Burns, G.A., Blakemore, C., 1994. Analysis of connectivity: neural systems in the cerebral cortex. Rev. Neurosci. 5 (3), 227–250.
 Zang, W., Rosenkranz, J.A., 2013. Repeated restraint stress enhances cure-elicited con-ditioned freezing and impairs acquisition of extinction in an age-dependent man-ner. Behav. Brain Res http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2013.03.028 (Epub ahead of print).